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Abstract

This report describes the wet site archaeological salvage excavations
conducted at the King's Navy Yard Park, Amherstburg, Ontario, in August
and September, 1978. The site was part of the former Navy Yard and
Commissariat associated with Fort Malden from 1797 until the mid-19th
century. The site attracted attention when offshore dredging in the
Detroit River brought up numerous well preserved military artifacts.

A cofferdam was erected around the richest area of the site so that it
could be drained and excavated. The area excavated is in the approximate
location of three successive wharves associated with the pre-War of 1812
King's Navy Yard and the postwar Commissariat. The remains of three
incomplete structures were recorded. The largest and most intact is
tentatively identified as the pier head of one of the three historic

wharves. Excavation contexts are described for artifact analysis.
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Introduction

On July 11, 1978, during construction of a steel retaining wall as part of
a land reclamation project on the Detroit River at Amherstburg, a dredge
brought up remarkably well preserved military artifacts of the early 19th
century, hundreds of clay pipe fragments and large oak timbers. As the
dredge attempted to proceed further, it encountered even more artifacts.
This discovery attracted considerable attention in Amherstburg and the
surrounding area. It was realized that a rich archaeological site was
likely present offshore, and that steps should be taken to investigate it
and salvage what was there. The Municipality of Amherstburg, the Ontario
Ministry of Culture and Recreation, and Parks Canada, Ontario Region, were
notified of the site. As the site was located underwater in a navigable
channel all parties agreed that the site was a federal responsibility,
under the Harbours Commission Act.

The site was then further assessed as to its potential. Parks Canada
and the Regional Archaeologist of the Ministry of Culture and Recreation
set up an operation to salvage artifacts from the dredge piles. Robert
Grenier, an underwater archaeologist with the Archaeological Research
Division, Parks Canada, Ottawa, conducted an underwater survey of the site.
Despite virtually no underwater visibility, he located a large concentration
of artifacts and four large beams which indicated the presence of a sub-

stantial structure (Fig. 1). These findings suggested the presence of



considerable cultural remains and the need for an archaeological salvage
operation. It was decided to use the steel retaining wall as a cofferdam
and then pump out the water so that the site could be excavated. On August
2L, the site was drained, and the salvage archaeology began. We had
approximately four weeks in which to excavate as much of the site area as
possible.

Our salvage objectives were: (1) to record all archaeological contexts
and structures; (2) maximize artifact recovery for later analysis; and (3)
to identify and date the archaeological contexts, if possible. The excava—
tion and dredge pile salvage together recovered more than 32,000 artifacts.
They have been washed and labelled and are now ready for analysis. A
preliminary analysis of the clay smoking pipe artifacts from this collection

has been published by Jon-Karl Jouppien (1979).

Historical Background

The discovery was made about 500 metres south of Fort Malden, offshore

from the southern limit of the former Military Reserve. This locality

was the site of the King's Navy Yard from 1796 to 1813, when it was burned
by retreating British forces. After the War of 1812 the site was rebuilt
as a commissariat, which eventually included a storehouse, office, garrison
fuel yard and other structures. In the 1850s the military operation was
shut down, and over the years the reserve was gradually divided into lots
and sold off. In the late 1880s or early 1890s a waterworks and pumping
station were built on the northwest corner of the commissariat property.
The waterworks was destroyed, probably in the 1920s, and the site remained

largely undeveloped until 1978, when it became a park as part of a municipal



riverfront improvement project.
Structural details from archival sources pertaining to the Navy Yard

and Commissariat are presented in Dennis Carter-Edwards' report, Fort Malden:

A Structural Narrative History 1796-1976 (1980). As the structural remains

exposed by the archaeology were under water, historical data on known under-
water structures at the site—the Navy Yard and Commissariat wharves—have
been summarized from that report for historical perspective and possible
identification of the archaeological structures.

Construction of the King's Navy Yard wharf began in 1797. A list of
materials for the wharf included quantities, parts and dimensions (Carter-
Edwards 1980: Appendix R); the list is reproduced below, with quantities
omitted and metric conversions added for comparative purposes:

cills or posts of oak timber 14 inches to 16 inches square
[35.6 cm? to 40.6 cm?]

sleepers or floor boards of cedar oak or hemlock, 8 inches to
10 inches [25.4 cm - 30.5 cm] in diameter

land tyes: cedar oak or hemlock 8 inches to 10 inches in diameter

sides and front work: pine squared on three sides, 10 inches
to 12 inches [25.4 cm - 30.5 cm] thick

oak planking, 3 inches [7.6 cm] thick

bar iron, one inch square [2.5 cmz], for bolts, rings, etc.

spikes: 9-inch [22.9 cm] and 7-inch [17.8 cm]

nails
The wharf was completed in the spring of 1798.

Only general information is available on the design and construction

of the wharf. It is known to have consisted of at least two major sections:
a sunken part (presumably piles supported by cribwork) with a superstructure

connected by a "bridge" to the land. A plan of the military post dated 1799



(Carter-Edwards 1980: Fig. 7) shows the wharf planked and L-shaped with

the extension pointing downstream. Although the scale of this plan is

very small, it does suggest the following very approximate dimensions of

the wharf: 20 yds [18.3 m] long by 10 yds [9.1 m] wide, with the extension
10 yds long by 7.5 yds [6.9 m] wide. In 1803 funds were budgeted for
building a timber wall to prevent the sand and mud from filling up the dock.
This construction may have involved other work as well, because a plan of
the military post dated 1804 (Carter-Edwards 1980: Fig. 15) shows a T-shaped
wharf with extensions running north-south. In 1813 the Navy Yard was

burned; presumably the wharf was destroyed along with it.

The postwar commissariat wharf was built on either the same location
or near the old one. A plan of 1830 (Carter-Edwards 1980: Fig. 28) shows
the wharf I-shaped, like its predecessor. The scale of this map is very
small, but does suggest approximate dimensions for the wharf: 100 ft.

[30.5 m] long, with a 20 ft. [6 m] extension. Other plans for the years
1830, 1835, 1838, 1840 show an I-shaped wharf in the same location (Carter-
Edwards 1980: Figs. 29, 32, 47, 65).

In 1843 the commissariat wharf was rebuilt. It description in 1844,
quoted by Carter-Edwards (1980: 220), is revealing (metrics are added for
comparisons):

Length 75 feet [22.9 m] Width 27 feet [8.2 m] This wharf was
rebuilt in the year 1843. The pier head is a crib 50 feet long
[15.2 m] 27 feet wide, formed of Oak timber and loaded with Stone,
the remaining 20 feet [6 m] part of the pier is supported by piles
and beams 12 inches square [30.5 cm?]. The Gangway is 100 feet
long [30.5 m] 15 feet wide [4.6 m] and supported by 2 Cribs 15 by
10 feet [4.6 m by 3 m], loaded w1th Stone - the whole covered with
3 inch [7.6 cm] oak plank.

A series of plans from 184) intermittently through to 1863 (Carter-Edwards
1980: Figs. 66, 70, 92, 94,-96, 101-104) show the L~shaped wharf in the same



position. It is slightly north and directly west of the property line
running east-west just north of the commissariat office which survives
today as a private residence. It is not known when the wharf fell into

disrepair or was dismantled, but this likely occurred before 1900.



The Site

The King's Navy Yard site is in Amherstburg, along the river front of a
large lot on Dalhousie Street at Rankin Avenue. Close to the street is
the Park House Museum. Behind the museum and toward the river is a
grassy field with some large trees. At the time of excavation this
property was being developed as a river front land reclamation project and
municipal park. A concrete pad, park benches, and monument with historic
plaques had been constructed in the middle of the property (Fig. 2). In
the south adjoining lot, separated by a fence, stands the original commis-
sariat office, now a private residence. The area west of the commissariat
property and west of the concrete pad was a construction site. A large
concrete storm sewer conduit constructed in recent years jutted into the
river. Some 15 metres offshore a dredge was excavating a trench for a
line of steel pilings. These were to form a retaining wall, behind which
tons of landfill would be deposited. Construction of the retaining wall
had been going as expected until the dredge hit large oak timbers (Fig. 3)
which prevented effective sinking of the pilings. Removal of the timbers
robbed unanticipated time and slowed down the construction project.

Since the discovery of the artifacts near the oak timbers, dredge
loads containing artifacts were brought on land for archaeological salvage.
A backhoe and pressure hoses were used to cut and spread the enormous piles

so that crews could search for artifacts (Fig. 4). This salvage had been



going on for a few weeks until construction of the steel retaining wall

had reach a point far enough south on the river so that the gap between

the wall and the land could be filled in, forming a partial cofferdam around
the area of timbers and historic artifacts. Thus, the storm sewer conduit
formed the north side of the cofferdam; the steel pilings, the west side;
landfill, the south; and the river bank, the east side (Fig. 2). The area
S0 enclosed measured approximately 22 m by 10 m.

After the water was pumped out, the immediate site area was found to
consist of a gently sloping bank that plunged sharply where the dredge had
dug out the cofferdam trench (Fig. 5). A timber supporting several pointed
logs and an edge of a packing crate 1lid could be seen near the cofferdam
trench (Figs. 6~8). These features compare well with the structures recorded
by Robert Grenier; however, the southernmost beam and pile of bricks (Fig. 1)
do not fall within the confines of the cofferdam. Stratification was found
to be present, but not all strata could be cleariy differentiated at this
stage. It was apparent, however, that the site was buried under a thick
sterile white sand fill. This was largely removed by power shovel (Fig. 9),
and shoveled away manually from hard to reach areas. The site was then

ready for controlled excavation (Figs. 10-11).



The Excavation

The salvage objectives—to recover as many artifacts as possible and to
record all contexts and structural remains for analysis—necessitated a
comprehensive excavation of the site. It was divided into excavation
units congruent with apparent structural and non-structural contexts.
These areas were then excavated, whenever possible, in units corresponding
to the natural stratification. To maximize artifact recovery all excavated
lots were screened against 4-inch hardware cloth under high pressure hoses
(Fig. 12). All artifacts, suspected artifacts, and materials used culturally,
such as coal, were bagged according to excavation lot and stored for clean-
ing and labelling after the excavation. Perishable finds of wood, leather,
tin and other materials were initially treated on site by the conservator
and stored in tubs of water and fungicide. Following the excavation, they
were taken to the Conservation Division, Parks Canada, Ottawa, for treatment.
The maximized artifact recovery not only obtained the highest yield, but
also precluded untrained crew members from making an artifact selection in
the field, and did away with problems of finding artifacts in the dense
clay.

The location of the site below ground water level and behind a coffer-—
dam produced excavation constraints not found on land-based sites. The
water table was higher than most areas of the site, and ground water con-

tinually flowed into the excavation. The ground water weakened control



walls, causing them to slump. Sometimes it bathed exposed features in a
film of clay and water, making it impossible to maintain clean features

for photography and extant recording. The other constraint was excavation
depth. For safety reasons we were forbidden by the construction engineer
to excavate no deeper than the lowest point of the site after it had been
pumped out. When we reached that level we found digging extremely difficult
in any case because the ground water could not flow away to the pumps. It
combined with the clay to form an incredible morass of heavy clinging

tofu-like material that could barely be shoveled.
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Stratification

Stratification at the King's Navy Yard presents an unusual situation with
far-reaching implications for the archaeological analysis. Artifact
analysis relies largely on some consistent contextual relationship being
maintained on the site through time. Such relationships depend on the
principle of superposition and/or horizontal distributions of eultural
remains as a reflection of human activities. In land sites deposition
layers containing artifacts are usually formed mainly through cultural
activities, and the archaeological pattern, once formed, usually persists,
unless there is pervasive disturbance. Even underwater sites, often
subjected to strong environmental forces, maintain some cultural context
through endurance of a structure such as a shipwreck.

The King's Navy Yard site, however, is a portion of a river bed into
which artifacts have been deposited rather haphazardly since 1797. What-
ever horizontal and vertical depositional pattern that might have formed
has likely been modified by the complex and powerful dynamics of the
Detroit River. (See, for example, Cooke and Doornkamp 1974: 74-95;
Small 1978: 33-62). Such natural processes are further complicated by
human activities. The Detroit River is one of the most intensely used
waterways in North America; the portion of river on which the site is
located has been used as a navigable channel for the past 200 years.

Underwater archaeologists have found that river traffic considerably
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disturbs the shoreline and stream bed (R. Grenier, personal communication).
The effects of river traffic are even further complicated by construction
along the shoreline.

To what extent such environmental factors have played a role at the
site is not known, but may be suggested by analysis of the artifacts
correlated with particular strata. There is a recognizable stratification
at the site which suggests that some kind of artifact superposition is
present, which in turn may assist in dating the strata. It was observed
in the field that most strata seemed to contain artifacts representing a
wide time range. This was difficult to define on site because the great
quantities of material recovered necessitated bagging and packing it soon
after recovery, thereby preventing study of all artifacts from a given
stratum. Three strata have been roughly dated on the basis of certain
artifacts observed in the field. These rough date ranges should be regarded
as tentative pending analysis of all the artifacts from intact deposits.
The artifact analysis correlated with the stratification should also indicate
whether or not the river environment has shifted artifacts around largely
within a stratum, or moved artifacts from one stratum into another.

Four superimposed strata were found to occur throughout the
excavation (Figs. 13-18). The uppermost stratum was sterile landfill,
whereas the lower strata are naturally formed river deposits. The strata

are described below, from lowest and earliest to highest and most recent.

Stratum 1: Fine Grey Silty Clay

This stratum appeared completely homogeneous throughout; no substrata or

minor anomalies could be differentiated. The clay was remarkable for its
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adhesive properties. Even after the clay had dried out on our boots and
shovels, brushes or scrapers were needed to remove all of it. This
adhesive quality sealed artifact surfaces from contact with oxygen, thereby
contributing to the excellent preservation of metal and leather artifacts
in this stratum. The clay stratum continued beyond the maximum depth of
excavation, presumably for some distance. The surface of the stratum is
the base of the ground water table. Water continuously folowed on the
impermeable clay surface into the excavation. The fine sediments and
absence of coarse sand suggests that a relatively fast moving current was
present during the formation of the stratum.

The clay deposits exposed by the excavation have formed around and
in between the dock cribbing since its construction (Figs. 16-18). The
clay stratum is noteworthy for its clay pipes (Jouppien 1979) and well
preserved military artifacts. The artifacts appear to span most of the

19th century.

Stratum 2: Coarse Brown Sand

The base of this stratum through which the ground water table flows is a
layer 2 cm to 8 cm thick of decaying twigs, bark, leaves, conifer needles,
and thousands of tiny molluscs—mostly gastropods (snails). The gastropods
were feeding on organic matter among this debris when they were killed by
some kind of oil pollution. It stained many parts of the brown sand black
and concentrated along the base of the stratum. Possibly the ground water
table assisted the spread of this pollution on site, or perhaps even carried
it from a nearby higher land-based location to the site. When first exposed

to the air the molluscs gave off a stench, which suggests that the decay






